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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Good afternoon.

          3  Let me first say that the delay of the one o'clock

          4  meeting was due, in part, to the previous meeting

          5  and I'd like to apologize.  I know everybody has

          6  calendars, but hopefully you've made the proper

          7  adjustments.

          8                 I'd like to welcome you to the

          9  Oversight Economic Development Meeting.  My name is

         10  Thomas White, Junior.  I would like to welcome you

         11  to this Oversight Hearing on Economic Development

         12  Incentive Packages in the City.

         13                 This Hearing is aimed at educating

         14  the Council and the general public about changes in

         15  economic development policy under the Bloomberg

         16  Administration and to increase understanding on how

         17  the City's primary Economic Development Agencies use

         18  available economic development incentives.

         19                 We will hear testimony from the New

         20  York City Economic Development Corporation, the New

         21  York City Industrial Development Agency, the

         22  Department of Small Business Services, as well as

         23  several local development corporations and economic

         24  development policies and advocates.

         25                 Our first panel will consist of
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          2  Donald Giampietro of SBS and Kei Hayashi of EDC.

          3  Would you kindly have a seat please.

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  Good afternoon Chairman

          5  White and Members of the Committee.  My name is Kei

          6  Hayashi.  I'm a Senior Vice President of the New

          7  York City Economic Development Corporation and

          8  Executive Director of the New York City Industrial

          9  Development Agency.  The New York City Economic

         10  Development Corporation is a 501(c)(3) local

         11  development corporation under contract with the City

         12  of New York and it administers some of the programs

         13  which are the subject of today's Hearing.

         14                 I am here with Don Giampietro of the

         15  New York City Department of Small Business Services.

         16    We have a brief PowerPoint presentation that will

         17  elaborate on some of the commercial incentive

         18  programs offered by the City, their goals, how they

         19  work and how they are marketed.

         20                 Let me preface the presentation by

         21  stating that though the Administration views

         22  incentives as one of several tools in our economic

         23  development tool box, as a general matter, we feel

         24  strongly that the best way to grow the economy and

         25  spur job creation is to ensure that ours is a City
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          2  that functions well with safe streets, accessible

          3  open space, good public transportation and

          4  infrastructure and effective public education.

          5                 We believe that this view is

          6  generally supported by the success that the City has

          7  experienced in recent years as the Administration,

          8  acting in partnership with the Council, has built on

          9  the work of our predecessors in making New York City

         10  a place where businesses and individuals want to

         11  locate.

         12                 This having been said, we do

         13  acknowledge that commercial incentive programs play

         14  a role in economic development, whether it be a

         15  marginal role or a more central role.  Accordingly,

         16  let me turn to my presentation to explain how the

         17  programs that we currently have in place work.

         18                 Incentive programs serve several

         19  purposes in the New York City economy.  First, to,

         20  they respond to competing programs offered by

         21  neighboring jurisdictions.  Second, they respond to

         22  increasing locational flexibility of both commercial

         23  and industrial enterprises.  Three, they mitigate

         24  the higher cost of doing business in New York City.

         25  Four, they counter business continuity trends post-
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          2  9/11.  Five, they achieve economic development

          3  objectives, such as strengthening and diversifying

          4  the City's economy on tax base and employment bases,

          5  supporting alternative central business districts

          6  and supporting not- for profit institutions that

          7  provide essential services to the City.

          8                 There are two main types of

          9  incentives.  As- of right incentives and

         10  discretionary incentives.  As- of- right incentives

         11  are available to all companies meeting certain

         12  criteria and are designed to encourage private

         13  sector behavior like investing and relocating to

         14  certain areas.

         15                 Don Giampietro is going to discuss

         16  the as-of-right programs offered by SBS and other

         17  agencies.  When he is finished, I will discuss the

         18  discretionary incentives, which are customized

         19  programming offered by New York City Economic

         20  Development Corporation through the New York City

         21  Industrial Development Agency.  These are available

         22  to companies which meet inducement, cost-benefit,

         23  environmental and financial analysis criteria.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         25  Hello.  Good afternoon Chairman White and Members of
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          2  the City Council.  My name is Donald Giampietro and

          3  I'm the Assistant Commissioner for Business

          4  Incentives at the Department of Small Business

          5  Services. Good afternoon.

          6                 What I would like to do is provide

          7  you with a brief overview of our primary as- of-

          8  right incentives, highlighting those directly

          9  administered by SBS and some of those administered

         10  by other City agencies, most notably, the New York

         11  City Department of Finance, DOF.

         12                 The programs I will discuss today are

         13  designed to lower operating costs, while promoting

         14  investment and/or job growth within all five

         15  boroughs.  These programs form part of the larger

         16  portfolio of benefits available to New York City

         17  businesses.

         18                 One of SBS's lead programs, and I

         19  turn your attention to the slides, is The Energy

         20  Cost Savings Program, known as ECSP.  ECSP provides

         21  a credit against regulated electricity and natural

         22  gas costs for businesses that renovate their

         23  facility or relocate to or within New York City.  It

         24  lowers, again, operating costs, the bottom line.

         25  The benefit provided under ECSP lasts for up to 12
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          2  years and is one of the most popular amongst small-

          3  and medium- sized businesses throughout the City  In

          4  FY  '06, over 100 businesses, small, primarily, took

          5  advantage of this benefit, saving about $1.5 million

          6  in combined annual savings.

          7                 Related to ECSP is The Lower

          8  Manhattan Energy Program, it's a cousin to the

          9  benefit, a cousin to the ECSP, which reduces, again,

         10  only electrical costs for businesses located in

         11  Lower Manhattan.  The benefit under LMEP, like under

         12  ECSP, lasts for 12 years.  To qualify, businesses

         13  must be tenants in buildings that have undergone

         14  renovation.  So, it improves older infrastructure.

         15  There are now 51 properties in Lower Manhattan

         16  providing benefits to over 1,300 businesses, saving,

         17  and this is a much larger program, $18 million in

         18  combined energy costs to these businesses.

         19                 SBS also offers grants to moving, to

         20  cover moving costs and allay relocation costs, as

         21  well as to provide technical assistance to

         22  industrial and manufacturing firms relocating within

         23  the City.  These programs have helped businesses

         24  employing, in total, 600 people over the past two

         25  years, the newest of which is a
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          2  Greenpoint/Williamsburg Relocation Grant Program.

          3                 SBS, like NYEDC, also promotes and

          4  assists several, with several of the Department of

          5  Finance's as- of- right incentives.  Most notably is

          6  the Industrial Commercial Incentive Program, ICIP,

          7  which provides exemptions and abatements on real

          8  property taxes for renovated and newly constructed

          9  commercial and industrial buildings.  The schedule

         10  and value of these exemptions and abatements depends

         11  on a number of factors, including the location of

         12  the property and its use.

         13                 Another DOF program, provided

         14  through, provided through the City is the Commercial

         15  Expansion Program, commonly referred to as CEP,

         16  which encourages companies to move into targeted

         17  areas of Upper Manhattan, north of 96th Street, and

         18  in the other boroughs.  It provides a rebate on

         19  rent.

         20                 Similarly, the Commercial

         21  Revitalization Program, CRP, provides a similar

         22  partial rent rebate and a limited commercial rent

         23  tax exemption, a CRT exemption, for businesses

         24  within Lower Manhattan, provided that the business

         25  is in a building that's over 30 years old.  So, it's

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  usually renovated buildings before 1975.

          3                 DOF additionally administers a

          4  program known as REAP, Relocation Employment

          5  Assistant Program, REAP, which provides up to a

          6  $3,000.00 a year credit for qualified employees or

          7  jobs relocated to targeted areas of the City.  REAP,

          8  like ECSP and CEP, also has a Lower Manhattan mirror

          9  program, which is called the Lower Manhattan REAP,

         10  which offers very similar benefits for firms

         11  primarily moving below Murray Street here.

         12                 Finally, SBS oversees the EZ or the

         13  Empire Zones Program for the City.  This is actually

         14  a state program that offers various wage and

         15  investment tax credits to businesses moving or

         16  expanding within one of 11 Empire Zones here in the

         17  City of New York.  Empire Zones, each of which has

         18  its own zone coordinator dedicated to promote the

         19  programs and provide outreach and assistance to the

         20  businesses and linking them and hand- holding them

         21  through the incentives process.

         22                 SBS also works closely with the

         23  Mayor's Office of Industrial and Manufacturing

         24  Businesses to promote its network of local

         25  Industrial Business Zones, IBZs, here they are, and
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          2  a one time IBZ credit for manufacturing firms moving

          3  into these zones. The IBZ credit allows a business

          4  to receive  --  an industrial business, to receive a

          5  credit against City corporate taxes for eligible

          6  moving costs if they move into these zones.  And,

          7  you'll see, they're throughout the City.

          8                 By building and strengthening our

          9  relationships with public partners and community

         10  organizations throughout the City, such as these

         11  IBZs, BIDs, merchant associations, local development

         12  corporations, LDCs and Empire Zones, SBS has

         13  positioned itself to dramatically improve and expand

         14  upon our business incentives efforts, like a two-way

         15  arm, back and forth. This includes accessing

         16  incentives for the small business, small to

         17  medium-sized businesses, including both

         18  SBS-administered programs and those of other

         19  agencies likes EDC and DOF and to navigate

         20  government services, generally.

         21                 On the small business side, SBS

         22  provides these services through seven Business

         23  Solution Centers, through a user friendly website,

         24  much user-friendly, through 3- 1- 1, through an

         25  outreach team that canvasses neighborhoods block by
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          2  block.  On the larger business side, NYCEDC and

          3  Kei's group, provides these services through its

          4  Client Coverage desks that keep the City's fingers

          5  on the pulse of various strategically significant

          6  industries, and, like SBS, though a new website

          7  that's being rolled out, as well as 3- 1- 1.

          8                 In short, and I am wrapping up,

          9  together with EDC and DOF, we help promote as- of-

         10  right incentive programs to ensure that New York

         11  City businesses are aware of these available

         12  incentives and can access them to the extent

         13  possible.

         14                 Thank you again for your time, Mr.

         15  Chairman and Council Members.  Next, my colleague,

         16  Kei, will continue to discuss discretionary

         17  incentives offered by IDA.  Thank you.

         18                 MS. HAYASHI:  Just a brief note on

         19  discretionary incentives.  The discretionary

         20  incentive programs offered by New York City

         21  Industrial Development Agency include the provision

         22  of tax- exempt bond financing, sales and use tax

         23  exemptions, payments in lieu of taxes or PILOTs and

         24  mortgage recording tax waivers. The benefits are

         25  typically based on a standard formula for
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          2  manufacturing, industrial and not- for profit

          3  projects, while they tend to be more specifically

          4  negotiated in the case of commercial projects.

          5                 In the case of formulaic benefits,

          6  staff must find that the company's relocation threat

          7  is credible or, in the case of not- for- profits,

          8  that the entity meets the New York City IDA's Not-

          9  For- Profit Guidelines.  For commercial

         10  transactions, staff determines the minimum

         11  assistance necessary to ensure the project's

         12  financial feasibility and negotiates the benefits

         13  package based on this information.

         14                 In addition to reviewing the

         15  company's inducement argument, staff of NYCEDC also

         16  conducts an environmental review, a financial

         17  analysis and a cost- benefit analysis.  The New York

         18  City IDA's guiding principals of selection can be

         19  found in its Uniform Tax Exemption Policy or UTEP,

         20  of which I think you have a copy in front of you and

         21  it was just recently amended in December, this

         22  month, yes.

         23                 All projects are presented to the

         24  public in a hearing, which is noticed 30 days in

         25  advance, with copies to the relevant Community
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          2  Boards and elected officials, then presented

          3  publicly to the New York City IDA Board for final

          4  approvals.

          5                 If a project is approved by the

          6  Board, its deal terms are memorialized in a binding

          7  multi- year contract, executed by IDA and the

          8  recipient.  Under this Administration, commercial

          9  benefits have increasingly been tied to future job

         10  growth, so that only when companies meet job

         11  projections may they avail themselves of benefits.

         12                 If a company does not abide by its

         13  contract with the agency, IDA protects the City's

         14  investment by enforcing forfeiture and recapture

         15  provisions.  Generally, these provisions vary

         16  depending on whether the non- compliance results

         17  from a relocation of operations that were committed

         18  to the City or from a more cyclical contraction in

         19  employment unrelated to relocation.  To ensure that

         20  compliance occurs under all deals, all recipients of

         21  benefits must submit annual reports, certified by a

         22  company officer, to the IDA, with selected deals

         23  audited each year by EDC's extensive compliance

         24  staff.

         25                 As with as- of- right programs, this
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          2  is a bit on marketing, the IDA also ensures that the

          3  public is aware of its discretionary benefits in

          4  several ways.  For example, as mentioned above, the

          5  IDA is rolling out an updated website, which I think

          6  is going to go live to the public tomorrow, thank

          7  you, Shin.  It regularly conducts road shows to

          8  educate businesses and institutions throughout the

          9  five boroughs of its offerings.  Last year, we were

         10  in Brooklyn.  This year, we were in Manhattan and

         11  the Bronx and we are working to schedule events in

         12  Queens and Staten Island for the first part of 2007.

         13                 We also conduct outreach through mass

         14  mailings, through conversations and events scheduled

         15  with the local development corporations in

         16  conjunction with the Mayor's Office of Industrial

         17  and Manufacturing Businesses, through EDC's Client

         18  Coverage desk and through individual meetings with

         19  potential clients.

         20                 Between 1999 and 2005, the IDA

         21  assisted in the retention or creation of over

         22  180,000 jobs through its project activity with 426

         23  companies.  Projects were located in all five

         24  boroughs and were provided to a wide variety of

         25  companies from corporate headquarters to garment
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          2  manufacturers, to sculpture gardens to the National

          3  Tennis Center in Flushing, Queens.

          4                 In conclusion, while we do not view

          5  incentive programs as the centerpiece of the

          6  Administration's economic development strategy, we

          7  recognize the importance incentive programs play as

          8  a tool in the City's broader efforts to attract and

          9  retain commercial activity.  We are constantly

         10  trying to improve the programs that we do have in

         11  order to ensure that they are effective.

         12                 To that end, we are constantly

         13  questioning how the recipients and the City, given

         14  their different goals, view the programs from an

         15  efficiency standpoint, and what role the programs

         16  really play in private sector location decision-

         17  making and, to the extent that other factors are

         18  equally or more important, what are they?  As we

         19  collect information that answer these questions, we

         20  will share them with the Council.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         22  testify.  I hope this has been helpful and we would

         23  be happy to answer questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         25  much.  I would just like to mention that we were
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          2  joined by my colleagues, Council Member James and

          3  Council Member Palma and present Council Member

          4  McMahon.  Council Members Palma and James had other

          5  Committees to go to.  But, I want to express the

          6  fact that they're very much interested in the

          7  Committee and what we do.

          8                 I would like to ask you, this UTEP

          9  policy, how long has this been in place?

         10                 MS. HAYASHI:  The revised UTEP that

         11  you have in front of you was just adopted on

         12  December the twelfth by the IDA Board of Directors,

         13  but we've had a policy in place since 1999. It's a

         14  requirement of state law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  It was revised

         16  when? December?

         17                 MS. HAYASHI:  December the twelfth.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  The twelfth?

         19                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And previously?

         21                 MS. HAYASHI:  Previously, I'd have to

         22  get for you the exact date of the previous

         23  amendments, but we did make amendments earlier in

         24  this year.  This version that you have in front of

         25  you is restated and compiles all of the amendments
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          2  to date.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, I

          4  understand to date. But, when was the process of

          5  making the amendments?

          6                 MS. HAYASHI:  I'm sorry?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  What were the

          8  years of the process that was used to make the

          9  amendments?  In other words, did you make the

         10  amendments every six months, every year, two years

         11  ago, three years ago, four year  --

         12                 MS. HAYASHI:  We make, we are

         13  constantly looking at the policy to make sure that

         14  it works.  We make amendments, probably, on average,

         15  twice a year and I can get you the exact dates of

         16  the amendments.  I know that we amended it in

         17  August, 2006 and again in November, 2006.  We also

         18  amended it to account for the Hudson Yards structure

         19  that's going in place.  The Hudson Yards benefits

         20  are elaborated in an Appendix in that UTEP.  So, on

         21  average, we probably amend it twice a year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Now, I

         23  understand that the Economic Development incentive

         24  packages are provided through the IDA's function

         25  within EDC.  What percentage of these benefits are
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          2  given as- of- right and what percentages are

          3  discretionary?

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  All of the IDA's

          5  benefits are discretionary, 100 percent are

          6  discretionary.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Can you

          8  let me know what types of firms are best able to

          9  assess economic development incentives, large,

         10  small, mid- size?  And, what about small businesses,

         11  when you take a look at the entire pie that can be

         12  offered?  I gather, I gather, before you respond,

         13  that percentage- wise, you have all the small

         14  businesses.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         16  That's correct.  Some of our  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And  --

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         19   --  Programs offers, are allowable to have a larger

         20  reservoir of eligibility for larger businesses.

         21  But, yes, you're correct, primarily, the benefits

         22  through SBS are accessed by small, smaller to medium

         23  sized businesses, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Right.  And, you

         25  would represent the bigger businesses?
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          2                 MS. HAYASHI:  Typically, it's

          3  businesses that have the wherewithal to make a

          4  capital, a large capital investment in the City,

          5  whether that be purchasing real estate or improving

          6  real estate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Could you give me

          8  an idea in terms of a minimum amount, a dollar

          9  amount, that would be considered a big business, on

         10  the low end?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, we have a, we

         12  just adopted a new requirement in UTEP that the

         13  company must be expending at least $750,000.00 or 25

         14  percent of the AV of whatever project property

         15  they're looking at, in order to constitute a

         16  project.

         17                 Also, if you're acquiring property or

         18  acquiring a facility, that would count as a, as a

         19  capital investment, no matter what the size is, if

         20  you're doing acquisition.  But, as you know, it's

         21  difficult to acquire in New York City for under, you

         22  know, millions of dollars sometimes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.  I would

         24  like to acknowledge the presence of Council Member

         25  Vann, has joined us. There's an interesting turn
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          2  here.  The last time I was in the City Council, we

          3  were trying to have individual companies, we would

          4  give them incentives to stay.  Now, that seems to

          5  have switched around.  We give them incentives to

          6  build.  You know, I mean, they have the money,

          7  they're not planning to leave.  But, we give them

          8  incentives to stay I mean, to build.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         10  Also, the, that program that we had before, the

         11  Energy Cost Savings Program, ECSP, it does have a,

         12  an eligibility criteria that for firms that are

         13  relocating from targeted areas, one of which would

         14  be Lower Manhattan, below 96th Street, without any

         15  renovation, without need for renovation, if they

         16  relocated and were able to secure space in the City

         17  somewhere else, they can receive the Energy Cost

         18  Savings Program benefit.  So, it's to stay as well.

         19                 So, there's a vehicle, if you are not

         20  investing, but you are making a commitment to stay

         21  in the City, you can receive the benefit if you move

         22  to Queens, if you move to certain areas of Brooklyn,

         23  the Bronx, Staten Island.  So, there's a, some of

         24  the programs have vehicles to benefit companies that

         25  are relocating without investment, monetary
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          2  investment and renovation or construction, as long

          3  as they're committing to a space in the City and

          4  they've been in the City for two years prior.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Are you talking

          6  predominantly about small business or big and small

          7  business?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          9  Big and small. But, again, as you correctly stated,

         10  small business services, services primarily small

         11  businesses, so the majority of those companies are

         12  smaller businesses.  But, the program law would

         13  allow for all, but smaller businesses are taking

         14  advantage of this benefit.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  All right.  I'll

         16  get back to you.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         18  True and Kei has correctly stated also, the

         19  Department of Finance, again, we have, I had

         20  discussed the Commercial Expansion Program, CEP,

         21  that provides a rent rebate.  Again, primarily

         22  smaller businesses that are tenants, that are not

         23  putting capital improvements into the entire

         24  building or buying property, that are renting in

         25  targeted manufacturing and commercial zones receive
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          2  Department of Finance benefits as well, as- of-

          3  right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  I'll

          5  reserve my right, as Chair, to ask future questions.

          6    But, I would like to acknowledge my colleague,

          7  Council Member McMahon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Thank you

          9  Mr. Chairman, I didn't mean to interrupt you, I just

         10  was asking to be put on the list, but I appreciate

         11  the opportunity to ask some questions.  I thank you

         12  for holding this every informative Hearing.  This

         13  really sheds some light on a lot of the questions

         14  that I think a lot of us have about the economic

         15  incentive programs for companies in our districts.

         16                 One of the issues that really

         17  concerns me in that regard, and staff has

         18  highlighted it as one of our areas to cover, is

         19  corporate citizenship.  I think we all agree that

         20  it's a good thing to have a partnership between the

         21  different City agencies and private business to

         22  enhance the economic vibrancy of New York City.

         23  But, all too often, we hear reports and complaints

         24  about companies that are receiving economic benefits

         25  from the City that aren't, perhaps, playing by the
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          2  rules or following good practices of good corporate

          3  citizens.  So, could you give me just a board

          4  overview on what it means under your definition of

          5  corporate citizenship?

          6                 MS. HAYASHI:  Right.  In the

          7  discretionary programs, we conduct a review of the

          8  business and we ask, as a part of that review, for

          9  the company to fill out and go through a Vendex

         10  review process.  We also do a site visit.  We make

         11  sure that if they have other relationships with City

         12  entities that they're in compliance.  We also hold a

         13  public hearing, which provides an opportunity for

         14  the public to come and comment.  If, for instance,

         15  the company is perhaps providing too much noise in

         16  the area or, you know, other, if there are other

         17  complaints.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I understand

         19  the processes that you employ to make your decision,

         20  but what are the definitions or parameters you use

         21  to determine who's a good candidate for help or

         22  benefits under the City programs?

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  We employ four

         24  different analyses. The first one is an inducement

         25  argument analysis.  We have, we collect information
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          2  from the company.  They have to make an argument

          3  that but for the incentives, they would not

          4  otherwise undertake the project or remain and grow

          5  in the City.  So, we collect information from the

          6  company with respect to their alternative sites, the

          7  cost of those sites, the cost of the sites here,

          8  their ability to access other programs in other

          9  jurisdictions and we do an analysis on that.

         10                 We also conduct an environmental

         11  review.  We are required to do that by state law.

         12  We conduct a financial analysis to look at whether

         13  or not if the company is financing the project, they

         14  can afford to finance it.  Then, finally, we conduct

         15  a cost- benefit analysis that compares the project's

         16  impact in the City, the benefits that the City will

         17  get in terms of increased tax revenues to the cost

         18  of the project, which are the costs of the foregone

         19  tax revenues that we're providing to the company.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Regarding

         21  the bona fides of the players within the company, is

         22  that checked through the Vendex process, the

         23  honesty, the history, the lack of any criminality?

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yes.  We have questions

         25  in the core application that the IDA requires and
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          2  also in the Vendex submission that go to whether or

          3  not there has been convictions or if there's

          4  outstanding litigation related to the company.  We

          5  do conduct diligence in that regard.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  To what

          7  extent is labor relations, the treatment of workers,

          8  requirement that union wages are paid or not paid,

          9  how much does that come into play?  Is prevailing

         10  wage a factor here?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  We have a labor

         12  practices questionnaire as a part of our application

         13  and we diligence the company's relationship with

         14  unions if they have relationships. But, wage

         15  requirements are not a criteria or requirement for

         16  obtaining discretionary benefits.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  So, someone

         18  could receive discretionary benefits, in effect, a

         19  break on taxes or reduction on taxes and all the

         20  other incentives that you highlighted are possible

         21  to receive under the program, but they don't have to

         22  be union shops or even pay prevailing wages?

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  They don't have to be

         24  union.  They have to comply with the state minimum

         25  wage requirements and we do collect their IA5

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  filings and we diligence their payment of taxes that

          3  are required by law.  But, you're correct, they

          4  don't have, they don't have to pay union wages if

          5  they're  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Or

          7  prevailing wage.

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Or what's

         10  come to be termed as a living wage.  The bare

         11  minimum is all that you require and that's the

         12  minimum wage?

         13                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, I mean, we think

         14  that prevailing wage and living wage is an issue and

         15  it's an important one.  I think the, the policy

         16  issue that the discretionary programs are struggling

         17  with is with that the benefit that we provide is so

         18  marginal.  We try to provide the least amount of

         19  benefit that will get the company to remain and grow

         20  in the City, that any additional requirements

         21  relating to costs, like additional wage

         22  requirements, sort of eats into that incentive that

         23  we're providing the company.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Could you

         25  maybe walk me through  --  are you familiar with the
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          2  project in my borough, the Visy Paper Plant?  Have

          3  you worked on that project?

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yeah, I'm familiar with

          5  it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Can you tell

          7  me, and just for the Chairman and my colleagues,

          8  maybe you can just give us a history of that

          9  project, where it is and what incentives they've

         10  received over the years?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  The Visy Paper project

         12  was a large recycling project.  One of the primary

         13  benefits that went into that project was a federal

         14  benefit, federal tax exempt bond financing, which is

         15  a, we always like to use the federal benefits,

         16  because it doesn't cost the City as much as some of

         17  the local taxes that we, we can also waive.  And,

         18  they, I could check on whether or not they also

         19  access sales tax and pilot benefits. But, I know

         20  that it's been, it's been a success.  They also work

         21  closely with Department of Sanitation to get

         22  contracts that would feed into their process.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Right, but I

         24  think that they have received those tax benefits and

         25  they get a pretty favorable contract, pretty steady
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          2  of supply of paper from the Department of

          3  Sanitation, which is also a benefit that they get,

          4  which is not exactly a part of your presentation.

          5  But, now, they're building an expansion of the

          6  project, is that correct?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          8  Yes.

          9                 MS. HAYASHI:  I believe that's

         10  correct, yes.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         12  They also received energy benefits for their

         13  original build out in the past.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  And the

         15  energy benefits go to the new construction as well?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         17  This is actually being discussed.  This was, it's on

         18  the original project, not on this new, new project.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Do you know

         20  the construction that's going on, is that done under

         21  union parameters?  Are the workers union workers or

         22  not?  Are they paid prevailing wage or not?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         24  I'm not, I don't think the discussion has gotten to

         25  that point yet.  I'm not familiar, no.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Would you

          3  know?

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  No, I don't know.  But

          5  that, again, it wouldn't be a requirement of the IDA

          6  agreement.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I'm sorry?

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  I don't know the answer

          9  to your questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  But it would

         11  not be?

         12                 MS. HAYASHI:  But it would not be a

         13  requirement of the IDA's discretionary benefit

         14  package.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  So, for

         16  instance, just say, say this were the case.  Say

         17  that it was happening that, that construction were

         18  going on and workers were being brought from out of

         19  state to do the construction of that site or any

         20  site of a project that's being done with a lot of

         21  tax payer and City incentives.  I'm just curious

         22  about a policy that would want to force the job

         23  creation for New Yorkers and keep jobs in the City.

         24                 Yet, I, in that particular instance,

         25  the builder or the owner could, in fact, import
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          2  workers from say the southern states of the United

          3  States, just for example, and house them in a motel

          4  in New Jersey and bring them over during the day.

          5  They would work there at minimum wage and that would

          6  mean no employment tax back to the City.  So, the

          7  City would have no real benefit from there.

          8                 What benefit is there to the City or

          9  to the workers of the City for that type of project

         10  and a project like that, which I think certainly has

         11  picked most of the items on the menu of governmental

         12  tax incentives and benefits?

         13                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, the IDA tries to

         14  do as tailored a cost- benefit analysis as possible,

         15  which would include looking at the impacts of the

         16  construction itself and also the ongoing impacts

         17  that the company has.  We do ask for whether or not

         18  the ongoing employees are New York City residents or

         19  out- of state residents.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  So, could

         21  you, but there's no requirement that they have to

         22  be, right?

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  There's no requirement,

         24  but it all goes as to whether or not there is a

         25  large enough impact in terms of a tax benefit to the
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          2  City for us to decide that it's, or to recommend to

          3  the Board that it's a good project.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  Okay, but

          5  would, so would you be surprised if the scenario,

          6  the hypothetical scenario that I just laid out for

          7  you was, in fact, the case?

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  If it was the case, and

          9  we ran the cost- benefit, if the company wasn't

         10  employing any New York City residents and the

         11  construction was going to have a minimal impact on

         12  the City because, for whatever reasons, then it

         13  would really, it would be revealed in the cost-

         14  benefit and it would probably not be a project that

         15  we would want to undertake.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I know, but

         17  what would you say if I told you that it is a

         18  project that you undertook and just the hypothetical

         19  that I laid out for you was, in fact, the case?

         20                 MS. HAYASHI:  That the Visy Company

         21  is not employing New York City residents?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  On the

         23  construction of its expansion.

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  On the  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I'm not
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          2  saying that's the case  --

          3                 MS. HAYASHI:  Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  --  I'm

          5  asking, what if that were the case?

          6                 MS. HAYASHI:  I think that we have

          7  not, we don't have an application in front of us to

          8  provide benefits related to the expansion.  But, if

          9  we did get an application in, we would want to

         10  collect as much information as possible about the

         11  nature of the expansion and the nature of how they

         12  were financing it and how it was undertook, in order

         13  to undertake a very thorough cost benefit analysis.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  But I

         15  thought your colleague from SBS said that the

         16  expansion is something that you're  --

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         18  No, we, there had been discussion, but we never

         19  received a full application on this.  We know of,

         20  that there was contemplation of expansion and

         21  expansion.  We have material on the original

         22  construction project years back that received the

         23  as- of- right benefit, the Energy Cost Savings

         24  Program, but no application on the discretionary

         25  benefit.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  So, it is

          3  possible that they would construct the expansion and

          4  then come to you for the benefits moving forward?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          6  The way it works for the as- of- right, generally,

          7  you have to apply prior to the full expansion and

          8  the discretionary, Kei could speak to.  I believe

          9  they have to come to her also before the

         10  construction.

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  If they're already

         12  undertaking in the project, it's likely that they're

         13  not eligible for these benefits.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  But we don't

         15  know for sure.  Could you check  --

         16                 MS. HAYASHI:  Sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  --  On this

         18  project for me?

         19                 MS. HAYASHI:  Uh- huh.  I'll check

         20   --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  I'm McMahon

         22  from Staten Island.  If you could get back to me and

         23  let me know  --

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  Sure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON:  --  The
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          2  status of the benefits that that particular project

          3  receives and whether or the hypothetical that I laid

          4  out is, in fact, the case?  Thank you. Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You're welcome.

          7  I want to recognize the presence of Council Member

          8  David Weprin.  I have a couple of questions in terms

          9  of just following- up with that cost benefit

         10  analysis.  Is that made public?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  The analysis?

         13                 MS. HAYASHI:  It is.  It's made

         14  public prior to the public hearing that we must,

         15  that we do conduct for all projects and that we are

         16  required to do by state law.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Based on awarding

         18  these benefits, how important is it in terms of the

         19  project, when you take a look, or do you take a look

         20  at the requirements for New York City residents to

         21  get employment?  Is that part of the cost benefit

         22  analysis?

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  It is.  When we do the

         24  analysis, we ask the company to project out new

         25  employment, what will be New York City residents and
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          2  what is not.  We typically take a very conservative

          3  approach in the cost- benefit analysis, where we

          4  don't account for any job growth, but just run the

          5  analysis based on the existing employees that the

          6  company has and the break out of whether those

          7  employees are New York City- based or out of the

          8  City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  How do you

         10  monitor that?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, we monitor  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Or, do you

         13  monitor that?

         14                 MS. HAYASHI:  We monitor employment,

         15  as required by law, Local Law 48, and we report that

         16  to the Council on an annual basis.  So, we, and we

         17  also require the company to provide us with annual

         18  employment data.  We have a Compliance Unit in EDC

         19  that monitors the agreements, the binding agreements

         20  that the companies signs and collects information on

         21  an annual basis.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Do you have

         23  residency requirements?

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  We don't, we don't have

         25  those in the contracts, but we do monitor employment
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          2  levels.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, but Local

          4  Law doesn't have residency requirements, does it?

          5                 MS. HAYASHI:  Our contracts don't

          6  have residency requirements.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So, going over

          8  back to my colleague's question, what's to prevent a

          9  company from getting the benefits, building the

         10  project and having individuals from other

         11  surrounding areas, not in New York City, to relocate

         12  and house them, provide housing for them in New

         13  Jersey and then they are transported to New York

         14  City to perform the job?

         15                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, typically, one of

         16  the main reasons that companies end up staying in

         17  New York is not because it's cheaper to do business

         18  here.  Frankly, you know, the benefits that we

         19  provide are marginal and don't often make the

         20  difference between the cost of doing business here

         21  and New Jersey.

         22                 One of the primary reasons that

         23  companies end up wanting to stay in New York City is

         24  because of the labor that they have.  A lot of our

         25  clients are industrial, small industrial companies
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          2  and not-for-profits that draw from a very local

          3  catchment area in terms of the employees that they

          4  have.  We typically  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I'm talking about

          6  big business.

          7                 MS. HAYASHI:  For the big businesses,

          8  I think what we've typically found is that about 60

          9  percent of the employees are typically New York

         10  City-based.  Again, there's no requirement to hire,

         11  but there are impacts above and beyond employment

         12  taxes that are generated by the, the larger

         13  headquarters locating in New York City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Just bear

         15  with me, my colleagues.  We give tax benefits to

         16  Wall Street firms, is that correct?

         17                 MS. HAYASHI:  That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And just last

         19  week or early part of this week, there were a number

         20  of Wall Street firms who are really benefitting or

         21  booming, that's wonderful, and they're giving out

         22  big bonuses.  Are we giving any of these Wall Street

         23  firms any of our benefits?  And, if so, who?

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, I mean, I think,

         25  we can let you know the corporate headquarter
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          2  transactions that we've undertaken and the ones that

          3  we have, you know, undertaken recently and the ones

          4  that were, are historic.  But, there are several

          5  financial services firms that do have agreements

          6  with the New York City IDA.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, how many?

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  I'm going to have Shin

          9  Masugi (phonetic) give you an estimate, although we

         10  can get back to you with final.  Shin is, primarily

         11  conducts commercial transactions.

         12                 MR. MASUGI:  I would have to check

         13  the exact number, read the financial sector,

         14  financial institution.  We, we have somewhere

         15  between, around ten companies has the active

         16  retention agreement with IDA.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  We have no

         18  standards in terms, of let's say employment.  Is

         19  Goldman Sachs one of those companies?

         20                 MS. HAYASHI:  Goldman, Goldman does

         21  not have a transaction with IDA.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, so give me

         23  a company, any company that does?

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  A financial services

         25  firm?  Is, you want a  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  That's receiving

          3  benefits from the City.

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  Merrill Lynch.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, Merrill

          6  Lynch, take Merrill Lynch.

          7                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yeah, Bank of America

          8  also.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, all right.

         10  You know, I just wanted to take a look in nature of

         11  that question to see in terms of separating for

         12  edification, small business versus big business.

         13  Because, on some of the responses from small

         14  business, it really translates over to responding to

         15  a big business question.  So, I would like to

         16  restrict that, if at all possible, to the questions

         17  that relate to small business in terms of the

         18  percentage.

         19                 What I mean by that is, if it's 75

         20  and 85 percent small businesses that are getting the

         21  benefits, then I think that would be an appropriate

         22  response from you.  If it's big business, which is,

         23  you know, collectively, if we put all the small

         24  businesses together  --  I'll put it in the form of

         25  a question. If were to put all of the small
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          2  businesses together, and we were to put all of the

          3  big businesses together and we have these benefits,

          4  in terms of dollar amounts, without a specific

          5  dollar amount, who gets the lion's share, big

          6  businesses or small businesses?

          7                 MS. HAYASHI:  Are you talking about

          8  for the as- of right programs or for all programs

          9  collectively or just the discretionary programs?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You can break

         11  them down like that.

         12                 MS. HAYASHI:  Excuse me?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You could break

         14  it down just like you just presented it.

         15                 MS. HAYASHI:  Well, I don't think we

         16  have that data in front of us.  But, we'd be happy

         17  to go back.  I mean, the lion's share of the

         18  programming is as- of- right  --

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         20  And primarily those, that, the percentage,

         21  generally, I could say, above 50 percent of the as-

         22  of- right programs, if not more, 60 percent, would

         23  be for small- to medium- sized businesses, generally

         24  under 100 employees, many of which under 50

         25  employees, the Energy Cost Savings Program, for
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          2  instance.

          3                 The ICIP program that I mentioned

          4  before, the DOF program that is designed more for

          5  renovation and construction, is, benefits the

          6  tenant, the small business, but is a building or

          7  property owner of a warehouse in the other boroughs,

          8  smaller manufacturing business or building that

          9  needs to be renovated.

         10                 So, that program goes also to the

         11  land owner, the property owner, who would then

         12  receive an exemption from an increase and then that

         13  would be passed on as savings to the tenants because

         14  they, their rent, which would traditionally be

         15  higher due to the higher taxes on the property,

         16  they're relieved of that.  They're relieved of that

         17  increase.  So, I would say 60 percent, to be

         18  conservative, 50 percent, of as- of- rights benefit

         19  the smaller New York businesses.

         20                 Then, some of the programs, the CEP

         21  program that I mentioned before, that rent rebate,

         22  primarily is for smaller businesses.

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  In terms of number of

         24  businesses in the discretionary program, over 90

         25  percent of a number of transactions are made with
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          2  industrial manufacturing and not- for profit

          3  entities.  It's also true that on a dollar per jobs

          4  basis, greater benefit dollars per job go to the

          5  small industrial manufacturing and not- for- profits

          6  clients than the commercial transactions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I think you made

          8  the statement that all benefits are discretionary.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         10  No, not all benefits.  I, they are discretionary

         11  benefits and as- of- right.  I don't, I don't

         12  believe  --

         13                 MS. HAYASHI:  I think you asked

         14  whether or not the IDA program, whether or not that

         15  was an all discretionary program --

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         17  That's all discretionary.

         18                 MS. HAYASHI:  --  And it is.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  What about

         20  the Time Warner project?  They seem to have, I

         21  believe, balanced off their agreement with hiring

         22  people in the immediate area?

         23                 MR. MASUGI:  We, actually, IDA does

         24  not have the incentive agreement Time Warner.  We do

         25  have a smaller retention deal with Time Magazine.
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          2  So, with respect to, I believe, Time Warner Center,

          3  IDA did not provide incentives for that particular

          4  project.  That's my understanding.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Are you aware of

          6  the deal overall?

          7                 MS. HAYASHI:  The Time transaction?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          9                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yes, it's in our

         10  portfolio.

         11                 MR. MASUGI:  Yes, it's a retention of

         12  the Time Magazine employees in New York City and

         13  just a, the exact number just slipped my mind, but

         14  it was a small operation, well, when you compare all

         15  the, you know, structural, Time Warner, just the

         16  operation of Time Magazine operations.  It's doesn't

         17  subject Time Warner entirely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Are you aware of

         19  the hiring agreement?

         20                 MS. HAYASHI:  Hiring that Time Warner

         21  is undertaking?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.  Their

         23  hiring agreement.

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  The specific agreement

         25  that Time Magazine has with the IDA?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          3                 MS. HAYASHI:  We can provide you with

          4  that, with those statistics.  We have over 300

          5  transactions in our portfolio, which Compliance

          6  monitors, but we'd be happy to answer, in writing,

          7  any specific questions you have about transactions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Are you

          9  aware of the, you or your staff, aware of the RED

         10  Coalition?  The definition is for Redefining

         11  Economic Development Coalition.  Are you aware of

         12  that Coalition?

         13                 MS. HAYASHI:  I'm not.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         15  No, I'm not.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  It is my

         17  understanding that they have proposals linking

         18  subsidies to community benefits such as living

         19  wages, jobs, first source, hiring, employment

         20  training assistance, et cetera.  We can get you some

         21  information on that since you don't have it.

         22                 MS. HAYASHI:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay?  With

         24  respect to land development deals, are there any

         25  efforts at EDC to track the number of people within
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          2  the community that are hired for local construction

          3  projects receiving subsidies?

          4                 MS. HAYASHI:  That group, the group

          5  that administers the real estate transaction is not

          6  present before you today.  The head of that group is

          7  Brian Murphy and in their leases, they do have some,

          8  some requirements with respect to the contractors

          9  used, I believe.  We can, we can get you that

         10  information.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         12  much.  Would you have information on the MWBE?  Are

         13  you prepared to answer those questions?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         15  Not at this particular Hearing.  Again, SBS

         16  monitors, it actually has the MWBE program, Minority

         17  and Women Business Enterprise program. Our Deputy

         18  Commissioner, Kerri Jew, testified yesterday before

         19  the Contract Committee.  And, again, the Mayor

         20  supports robust efforts for Local Law 129 and

         21  encouraging and expanding the growth of MWBE

         22  contracting throughout the City and the Mayoral

         23  agencies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, that poses

         25  a question in terms of benefits, in terms of hiring
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          2  and the things that we're talking about.  Why

          3  doesn't EDC have an MWBE program?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          5  Well, again, the City's MWBE program is managed out

          6  of SBS and we look at all the agencies specifically.

          7  I can't comment on EDC's  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, she's

          9  there, she can answer.

         10                 MS. HAYASHI:  The discretionary

         11  programs don't have requirements with respect to

         12  hiring minority- or women- owned businesses, again,

         13  for the reason that we want to try to give the

         14  companies the flexibility to use the level of, the

         15  level of contracting at the prices that they feel

         16  that they can afford. Again, our benefits, we view,

         17  is very slim and anything that would add costs or

         18  other requirements into the documents, we feel, is

         19  eating into that incentive.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  But we're not

         21  talking about the hiring piece, we're talking about

         22  incentives for MWBE.

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  Oh, providing

         24  incentives to  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.
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          2                 MS. HAYASHI:  --  Minority- and

          3  women- owned businesses?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          5                 MS. HAYASHI:  I'm sorry, the question

          6  was whether or not we.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You have a

          8  program to support MWBE programs, incentive

          9  programs.

         10                 MS. HAYASHI:  I think that would more

         11  be an SBS -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Companies, for

         13  companies.

         14                 MS. HAYASHI:  Right.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         16  Well, specifically, it's more, the MWBE program

         17  encourages the various agencies and their

         18  procurement in contracting than specifically the

         19  incentives themselves.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  That's still

         21  related.  I understand the nature of your  --

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         23  No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  Your answer,

         25  but I'm asking her, in terms of EDC.
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          2                 MS. HAYASHI:  We are, our programs

          3  are not, we go out and market our programs, but we

          4  don't have a specific program targeted at minority-

          5  and women- owned businesses.  The discretionary

          6  programs are open to all businesses.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well  --

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  And based on the four

          9  criteria that I stated before, those are the, those

         10  are the key drivers for our decision- making.

         11  There's also a, on the, I think it's the second page

         12  of the UTEP that you have in front of you, it sort

         13  of lays out our key selection criteria.  It's on

         14  page, it's on page one, actually, the key points

         15  that we look at in a project, in order, in

         16  determining the discretionary assistance.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I understand what

         18  you're saying.  My point is, if you don't have it

         19  and we're talking about other incentives for

         20  businesses to come in, we're talking about good

         21  citizenship, we're talking about partnership and

         22  communities, it seems to me not really a fair game

         23  if EDC, which has a lot of benefits to offer and

         24  incentives to give to companies, that they do not

         25  participate in minority- and women owned businesses.
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          2                 It just, and just to go over and say,

          3  well, we don't have it, I don't think is, right now,

          4  acceptable on the part of this Committee.  I mean,

          5  it just doesn't make sense.  You have big businesses

          6  and we have women- and minority- owned businesses

          7  that, you know, should be getting some of those

          8  benefits, should be encouraged.

          9                 MS. HAYASHI:  We came today to,

         10  prepared to provide you with an explanation of the

         11  existing incentive programs.  We don't have

         12  information on MWBE programs, but, you know, if you,

         13  we view that as outside the scope of this Hearing.

         14  We could provide other, other resources to testify

         15  at a later date.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I guess we really

         17  don't have any choice, but I think the answer that

         18  you gave originally is really the answer and that we

         19  should explore, at a later date, and maybe have some

         20  one- on- one discussions about encouraging EDC to

         21  take a look at its policies as it relates to MWBE

         22  companies.

         23                 I'm a little disappointed, but I'm

         24  here to, as a partnership and we level the playing

         25  field, to some degree. Certainly people who make
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          2  investments in this City should have the benefits of

          3  their investment.  But, by the same token, you know,

          4  us representing the people, we have to make sure

          5  that the people get some benefits from businesses

          6  locating in the areas or getting some of the tax

          7  payers' dollars to benefit programs that would

          8  otherwise not be given.

          9                 I think that's the overall view and

         10  the reason, you know, that, and the direction that

         11  we're going in.  We want to make sure that everybody

         12  has a fair opportunity to enjoy the economic boom in

         13  the City of New York.  To that degree, that's what

         14  we're going to hold our focus on.  So, if you're not

         15  prepared, I think that perhaps we should have a

         16  discussion, maybe a meeting, to take a look at, you

         17  know, some possibilities that maybe we haven't

         18  thought about, since there's a lot of discretion

         19  going around.  If that being so, then discretion

         20  might apply in that area as well.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         22  Just to note also, the Empire Zones Program, which

         23  was the state program, does have certain wage tax

         24  credits for targeted employees, those that were on

         25  public assistance, those that were out of the
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          2  workforce for a while, not specifically MWBE, but

          3  there are targeted wage tax credits with that

          4  particular program.  It's the state vehicle for

          5  companies in distressed, primarily the 11 Empire

          6  Zones, some of which are distressed areas and, for

          7  smaller businesses.

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  And, for the record,

          9  EDC does have an MWBE office, which focuses on how

         10  we conduct our procurement. We did not realize that

         11  was the scope of this Hearing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  We can

         13  sort of like not be on the same page at a certain

         14  point in a Hearing.  We'll make that up.  We'll make

         15  sure that we make that very specific and we'll have

         16  a discussion on that.  You know, I'm not  --

         17  Councilman Vann, just one more moment.

         18                 The fact of the matter is and I think

         19  what I'm looking at, on one level, we're talking

         20  about individual jobs and jobs for individuals in

         21  communities and that's fine.  But, I'm also looking

         22  those middle management jobs for the middle class,

         23  not minimum wage jobs.  We have a shrinking middle

         24  class in this City.

         25                 Those individuals now, who are
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          2  working, who are making $50,000.00 and $60,000.00 in

          3  a household of two, that comes to let's say

          4  $120,000.00 per household, you know, as we begin to

          5  watch this word affordable kicking around, they will

          6  eventually become the working poor.

          7                 So, it's, I'm trying to take a look

          8  at and hopefully be helpful and make recommendations

          9  to the Council, through the Committee and through

         10  the leadership of the Speaker, to make sure that we

         11  don't lose our middle class in the City of New York.

         12    We have to have that and we're going to have that.

         13  We're not going to participate, at least this

         14  Committee, is not going to participate in any

         15  endeavor that would run the middle class out of the

         16  City of New York.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         18  True.  And, just to note, again, a little beyond the

         19  scope of this, the intent for us here, SBS does have

         20  the workforce training initiative, a variety of

         21  which I'm not an expert to discuss at the moment.

         22  These various programs, the Workforce One Centers,

         23  the training, again, to bring individuals beyond

         24  even the jobs that many, as you were speaking of,

         25  have currently and to bring people above and beyond
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          2  and have the ladder and the ability to grow  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  With all due

          4  respect to you, we have flipped to two different

          5  pages.  I'm talking about businesses getting

          6  assistance.  I'm not talking about just individuals.

          7    I'm talking about if you have a business that you

          8  can build your business  --

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         10  Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  -- And become

         12  bigger, with some of the benefits that are not being

         13  offered in certain areas of business and they should

         14  be offered the same opportunity.  I just used the

         15  MWBE as an example, which is not even in the thought

         16  process of getting any kind of benefits or

         17  assistance. So, that's two different levels.  That's

         18  why I said when, in speaking with you, I'll be

         19  mindful that you represent SBS and in speaking with

         20  you, I would recognize that you are supporting big

         21  business.  But  --

         22                 MS. HAYASHI:  I actually  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  But  --

         24                 MS. HAYASHI:  --  Think there's a

         25  misconception -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          3                 MS. HAYASHI:  --  With respect to the

          4  type of businesses that the NYCIDA primarily serves.

          5    More than 90 percent of the companies that we have

          6  project agreements with are smaller industrial,

          7  manufacturing and not- for- profit businesses. These

          8  are community- based businesses that do a lot of

          9  their hiring within a local catchment area, of

         10  which, primarily, they employ individuals who are

         11  making middle class wages.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Like Merrill

         13  Lynch?

         14                 MS. HAYASHI:  Merrill Lynch is one of

         15  over 300 project agreements that we currently have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, and do they

         17  hire people for their middle management jobs?

         18                 MS. HAYASHI:  I mean, I think that

         19  they have a wide range of salary levels, the Merrill

         20  Lynch agreement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You were going to

         22  say something?

         23                 MR. MASUGI:  With the company size of

         24  Merrill Lynch, you would have to have different

         25  level of the employee hiring, not just the top level
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          2  from the middle management to any office worker and

          3  the, that's a part of the agreement.  It is my

          4  understanding that large corporation, which only

          5  represent ten percent of the IDA agreements, are

          6  hiring a variety of different levels of employees in

          7  New York City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, I'm going

          9  to turn the questioning over to my colleague,

         10  Council Member Vann.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, thank you

         12  Chairman White.  I really only have a question or

         13  two, primarily for clarification.  What is your

         14  definition of a small business, to which they are,

         15  can receive the incentives that are available for

         16  the discretionary or as- of- right?  What's a small

         17  business?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         19  Generally, we don't have a defined definition in

         20  law, but there are companies under 100 and then

         21  those under 150.  One of the programs, the CEP

         22  Program, I won't go into that again, but that's the

         23  rent rebate, that's under 125 employees, for that

         24  particular program.  But, generally, the, the, for,

         25  I can speak to the Energy Cost Savings Program,
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          2  which is the one I'm most familiar with at the

          3  Department of Small Business Services.  Those

          4  businesses are generally under 50 employees.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  The businesses

          6  to which we speak are those that are involved with

          7  either manufacturing or industrial purposes?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          9  Generally, manufacturing, industrial, warehouse

         10  distribution, or related processing, yes, non-

         11  retail, generally manufacturing, warehousing and

         12  related industrial activity.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right, not a

         14  lot of minority- owned to my  --  to what extent do

         15  you have minority owned businesses that are

         16  manufacturing or industrial or so forth?  Do you

         17  have any idea?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:  I

         19  don't keep that particular statistic for the

         20  programs.  Again, it's open, it's across all

         21  industries that can fit into the as- of- right

         22  incentive definition of criteria.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  So, you have no

         24  idea if they're minority- owned or not, is that what

         25  you're saying?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:  A

          3  small percentage, I would have an idea, myself, yes,

          4  a small percentage are of various minority groups

          5  within the City and women- owned businesses as well,

          6  not to forget that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  All right.  Is

          8  there any way of knowing if the incentives that you

          9  provide have created new hires?  And, to what extent

         10  have you created new hires with your incentives?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         12  New hiring, we, what we do is we capture at the time

         13  for the as- of- right, again, the as- of- right

         14  benefits, they capture, at the moment of approval,

         15  the employment totals.  Some of them require an

         16  employment level in order to be approved per square

         17  foot, but, and we do ask for job growth projections.

         18                 Then, some of the, the Department of

         19  Finance benefits, as well as the Empire Zone's

         20  benefits, do have annual continuing use

         21  requirements, where they, some of the benefits are

         22  tied to the, to employment levels.  So, you

         23  calculate it.  One of them is the REAP, the

         24  Relocation Employment Assistance Program, is

         25  actually tied to your job, your job level.  If you
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          2  grow employment, you receive an additional benefit,

          3  an incentive to actually grow employment.

          4                 The Empire Zone benefit, as I stated,

          5  has employment tests that annually, it's built into

          6  the process, through which you calculate your

          7  credit.  So, you're seeing the employment growth.

          8  It encourages, actually, expansion.  You can't go

          9  below a minimum, at times, for some of these

         10  programs, and continue the benefit.  So, they do,

         11  they do capture that employment growth.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  So, you can

         13  tell me the employment increases that have been made

         14  as a result of the incentives that we provide?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         16  Again, because I don't administer the Department of

         17  Finance programs, the Empire Zones is a state, I

         18  don't, I don't personally at SBS, capture that,

         19  because, again, as I, there were three programs that

         20  we manage, which were more energy- related programs

         21  independent of Minority or Women Business Enterprise

         22  status.

         23                 Again, the State of, the State of New

         24  York would have the Empire Zones figures.  Some of

         25  the program themselves, you couldn't receive them
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          2  unless you did at least maintain or grow employment

          3  and the Department of Finance, I know, does have for

          4  the particular program I described, CEP, annual

          5  filings by businesses in order to receive that

          6  benefit.  Again, at SBS, I don't maintain it for the

          7  energy programs.

          8                 MS. HAYASHI:  For all of the IDA

          9  programs, we, we report annually through Local Law

         10  48, the employment levels of the IDA companies and

         11  you can compare the jobs that they had at

         12  application with their current job levels and see if

         13  they actually grew or created jobs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  If we're

         15  providing incentives and benefits to qualified

         16  companies and so forth and they do not increase in

         17  terms of their number of employees or so forth, they

         18  will still get the benefit, right?  As long as it's

         19  ongoing, for the most part?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         21  It would depend on the particular benefit.  The

         22  energy benefits, yes, as long as there in operation

         23  within New York City.  Some of the Empire Zone

         24  benefits, if you did not meet the employment

         25  criteria, you would not be able to take that credit
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          2  that year.

          3                 Similar, the REAP benefit, the

          4  Relocation and Employment Program benefit, if you

          5  seek benefits for job increase for a qualified new

          6  job, if you didn't have a qualified new job, you

          7  couldn't receive the benefit.  But, you could

          8  receive it on the benefit, you could receive the

          9  benefit for those that you brought in to a targeted

         10  area.  So, some of them are annual and if you don't

         11  hire, you don't receive a benefit on that particular

         12  person.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay.  I

         14  understand that, you know, it's a benefit to having

         15  these incentives for these businesses to continue to

         16  function and so forth.  But, it is not necessarily

         17  an impact on the increasing unemployment rate in New

         18  York City.  As far as I can tell, there's no nexus

         19  in it.  There doesn't seem to be a direct

         20  correlation between improving or eradicating our

         21  unemployment with a provision of incentives to these

         22  industrial and manufacturing companies.  Maybe, you

         23  know, maybe that's not supposed to accomplish that

         24  goal.  I just want to be clear.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:  I
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          2  mean, I can't, the goal could be also, as Kei had

          3  mentioned in the beginning and at the end of the

          4  testimony, to facilitate growth within the City, to

          5  actually be a place by encouraging these businesses

          6  to grow and expand.  We, we improve the business

          7  climate and promote economic development, which

          8  would then, of course, have the impact that we would

          9  want in the long- and short- term and short- term.

         10                 MS. HAYASHI:  I think we have several

         11  goals.  One of which is diversifying the economic

         12  base in the City.  And, for most of our industrial

         13  and manufacturing transactions, we don't tie the

         14  benefits directly to employment levels, because we

         15  understand that the employment trends in the

         16  industry have gone down.  They're, they've somewhat

         17  stabilized now.  But, we do tie the benefits to

         18  maintaining the facility in an industrial, in a

         19  qualified use, so that they can't take the, take the

         20  benefits and the facility and turn the facility into

         21  something other than what is agreed to in the

         22  documents, which is a manufacturing facility for the

         23  employment of manufacturing workers.

         24                 For the commercial transactions, we

         25  absolutely do tie, in our new transactions, to job
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          2  growth.  We tie the benefits to the company's

          3  ability to actually grow employees and report those

          4  job growths to the agency in their annual reports.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  We know, from

          6  research, that most of the poverty in New York City

          7  is basically, can be traced back to certain

          8  communities.  You know, we know the New York census

          9  data will tell us the neighborhoods, you know, even.

         10    I know the Mayor is concerned about poverty in New

         11  York City.  He has at least two direct initiatives

         12  that address that, supposed to address that and I'm

         13  sure a lot of programs, he would say, would also

         14  move towards that end.

         15                 So, I'm wondering is there any way

         16  that, since we know where people who are without

         17  employment and so forth live, is there any way that

         18  we can begin to target in such a way to make an

         19  impact on that?  Does your program lend itself to

         20  directing people to hire in areas where there have

         21  greatest need?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:  I

         23  mean, and I'll let Kei speak as well, but

         24  independent, of course, of the general Anti- Poverty

         25  Initiative of the Mayor, one of the programs, again,
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          2  two of the Empire Zones that I mentioned, the Zone

          3  Program and, of course, the Empowerment Zone Program

          4  are designed also to encourage hiring from specific

          5  areas.  The Empire, Empowerment Zone, which is the

          6  federal program, more specifically than the Empire

          7  Zone.

          8                 Again, the Empire Zone, easiest

          9  credit to receive, which is the wage tax credit,

         10  generally is $1,500.00 per employee that a company

         11  or business would hire.  It goes up to $3,000.00 if

         12  you hire individuals for certain targeted groups,

         13  which is, which is a fantastic incentive.  But,

         14  again, those two programs, I can speak to

         15  specifically having benefits for hiring and again

         16  the Empowerment Zone for hiring within the Federal

         17  Empowerment Zone of the South Bronx and Northern

         18  Manhattan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, just one

         20  clarification.  I wasn't on page four.  I wasn't

         21  sure what the reference to 600 people actually

         22  meant.  It says that SBS offers grants to cover

         23  moving costs and provide relocation assistance to

         24  industrial and manufacturing firms located in New

         25  York City. These programs have helped businesses
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          2  employing over 600 people in the past two years.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

          4  That would be the cumulative number.  There's a

          5  relocation grant program generally for small, small

          6  businesses and, that have been active for the last

          7  two years and, just in total, the companies, at the

          8  time of approval, the cumulative total of employees

          9  was 600 for those firms.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, so this

         11  didn't create 600 jobs?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         13  Well, it would say, the companies, these companies

         14  who were faced, were challenged with staying in the

         15  particular communities where they had been doing

         16  business, where able to locate within the City

         17  instead of going to New Jersey, some to down south,

         18  some to Connecticut.  They stayed in the City and,

         19  again, the cumulative number was 600.  So, it's not

         20  that they grew by 600, but these 600 people  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Stayed in New

         22  York.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         24   --  Stayed in New York working, primarily, again,

         25  the catchment area were New York City neighborhoods.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, well,

          3  they've been working that, they've been working

          4  that.  Okay, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I have one last

          6  question. With respect to the land development deals

          7  that there, are there any efforts for, at EDC to

          8  track the number of people within the community that

          9  are hired for local construction projects receiving

         10  subsidies?

         11                 MS. HAYASHI:  I believe that question

         12  falls outside the scope of this Hearing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.

         14                 MS. HAYASHI:  You don't have a land,

         15  you don't have someone from the real estate division

         16  in front of you right now.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  I'm making

         18  a note of what falls outside the scope  --

         19                 MS. HAYASHI:  Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  So that,

         21  perhaps we can meet on that, you know, you give me a

         22  call and we'll  --

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  --  Set up a

         25  meeting and have a discussion surrounding that.
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          2                 MS. HAYASHI:  Yeah, I think that,

          3  yeah, you can call Doug Jones, who is in our

          4  Intergovernmental Office.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay and you're

          6  the Executive Director, am I correct?

          7                 MS. HAYASHI:  I'm the Executive

          8  Director of the New York City IDA, that's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, all right.

         10  So, what I'd like to do is I would like to thank you

         11  for coming.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  It was not my

         15  intent to blindside you with questions outside the

         16  scope, but since they were outside the scope, they

         17  are questions that we would like to have answers.

         18  So, therefore, we'll make the necessary arrangements

         19  to have a discussion about them.  I want to thank

         20  you very much for coming.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GIAMPIETRO:

         22  Thank you.

         23                 MS. HAYASHI:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  What I'm going to

         25  do, as soon as the Hearing table is ready, I'm going

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  to ask, and if I mispronounce your name, I

          3  apologize, Anne Seifried, Bettina Damiani, Marnie

          4  McGregor and Carrie Brunk.  Please have a seat. Good

          5  afternoon.  We'll go in the order, my left, which is

          6  your right, from left to right and listen to your

          7  presentation.  I want to, beforehand, thank you for

          8  coming to attend this Hearing. State your name and

          9  then your presentation.

         10                 MS. McGREGOR:  Thank you, last on the

         11  list and first to testify.  My name is Marnie

         12  McGregor.  I'm from the Pratt Center for Community

         13  Development.  A copy of a recent report that we just

         14  published is being released.  I see that it was

         15  referenced in some of your Council preparation

         16  materials, but we just wanted to bring it as a

         17  resource today and it has been mentioned.

         18                 First, we'd like to thank you, Chair

         19  White, for convening the Oversight Hearing and the

         20  leadership of Speaker Quinn on this issue.  We

         21  particularly applaud the Council for passing Local

         22  Law 48 last year, which significantly helps policy

         23  makers and the public better understand the fiscal

         24  and economic impacts of these deals that are often

         25  negotiated outside of the traditional budget
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          2  process.

          3                 We also do understand that there had

          4  been significant amendments and improvements made to

          5  IDA over the last year, to make subsidy proposals

          6  much more meaningful, including some, some clawback

          7  provisions.  However, we do share your concerns, as

          8  you mentioned earlier, that economic incentives are

          9  being provided to large scale development projects

         10  without enough benefit provided to local

         11  communities, particularly low- income communities.

         12  As our colleagues here, Good Jobs New York, have

         13  said, public subsidy should only be used as a tool

         14  for helping working families move up the economic

         15  ladder.

         16                 So, this month, we published a report

         17  entitled Building in Good Jobs and it's a national

         18  scan.  It is not meant to highlight particular

         19  developments within New York, as we know that those

         20  are controversial and have been much discussed.

         21  But, we wanted to bring an example.  Although many

         22  improvements have been made in New York over the

         23  last year, we do think that there are lessons that

         24  can be learned from across the country, particularly

         25  around linkage policies.
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          2                 Some of the examples are, it's in the

          3  context of real estate- led economic development.

          4  As we know, New York is certainly facing a

          5  developing boom.  So, this looks at first source

          6  hiring, linkage between development projects and

          7  employment training, and establishing goals and

          8  standards for job creation and job quality in

          9  conjunction with redevelopment projects.

         10                 So, we really hope that there can be

         11  an ongoing dialogue with this particular national,

         12  set of national examples and some of the

         13  recommendations that we're already working with,

         14  community groups, other organizations and the

         15  Administration and City Council, to look at some of

         16  the ways that unemployment and poverty can be

         17  addressed in some of these, through some of these

         18  projects.

         19                 We do look forward to continuing to

         20  work with both the Council and the Administration

         21  and hoping that economic development packages and

         22  subsidies continue and will even do more to create

         23  high quality jobs that can benefit all New Yorkers.

         24  Thank you very much for the opportunity to comment.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. BRUNK:  Good afternoon Chairman

          3  White and  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Good afternoon.

          5                 MS. BRUNK:  --  Members of the

          6  Committee.  My name is Carrie Brunk.  I'm with New

          7  York Jobs with Justice.  My testimony is the one

          8  with the blue border at the top.  So, thank you for

          9  this opportunity to testify before you today.

         10                 Just in case any of you aren't

         11  familiar with our organization, New York Jobs with

         12  Justice is a coalition representing worker,

         13  community and faith- based organizations.  We engage

         14  in long- term, multi- issue coalition building on a

         15  variety of issues, including accountable economic

         16  development.

         17                 You may be familiar with the work

         18  that we did with now Speaker Christine Quinn, to win

         19  support for the passage of the New York City Health

         20  Care Security Act in 2005.  The Health Care Security

         21  Act drew on broad support from the business

         22  community, labor and community groups to require

         23  grocery stores with over 35 employees or retailers

         24  larger than 10,000 square feet to contribute towards

         25  their health care for each hour an employee works.
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          2  It was a pilot project that was passed last year.

          3                 Our intention with the Health Care

          4  Security Act was to encourage and protect quality

          5  jobs with good benefits. We're here today for the

          6  same reason, to promote quality jobs in New York

          7  City and particularly to ask for the Council's

          8  support for industrial development agency reforms

          9  state- wide.  We must work to ensure that the

         10  industrial development agencies support responsible

         11  businesses and actually deliver on their promises to

         12  provide good jobs and services to New Yorkers.

         13                 New York Jobs with Justice actually

         14  coordinates the coalition that you, Council Member

         15  White and Council Member McMahon were talking about,

         16  the New York initiative for development

         17  accountability, which is a state- wide coalition of

         18  organizations that have been working for reform of

         19  the IDAs and for, and specifically for living and

         20  prevailing wage requirements on IDA jobs.

         21                 Our partner organizations in this

         22  effort include SEIU 32BJ, UNITE- HERE, the Fiscal

         23  Policy Institute, Good Jobs New York and several

         24  other community, environmental and advocacy groups

         25  across the state.  Broadly speaking, I'll just sum
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          2  it up fairly quickly, broadly speaking, the campaign

          3  promotes three principals and asks for your support

          4  of state legislation that was introduced both in

          5  2005 and in 2006 and which was actually passed by

          6  the Assembly this year.

          7                 First, the first principal that this

          8  legislation is based on is that the IDAs should

          9  implement a set of basic standards for the

         10  businesses that get assistance through the IDAs,

         11  that our tax dollars are not subsidizing poverty

         12  wage jobs, sprawl or the outsourcing of construction

         13  work to out- of- state companies.

         14                 Basic standards would include

         15  requirements that all jobs on a subsidized project

         16  be living or prevailing wage, that contractors be

         17  hired within the state and there are other standards

         18  that, that localities could determine within their

         19  jurisdictions to also place standards on all subsidy

         20  recipients.

         21                 Earlier this year, the New York City

         22  Economic Development Corporation released the report

         23  required under Local Law 48, which increased

         24  transparency requirements for the New York City IDA.

         25    One of the new requirements was that the IDA ask
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          2  companies with more than 250 employees about the

          3  wages paid to their employees, the same Local Law

          4  that Marnie referenced and that was referenced

          5  earlier by the EDC representatives.  Of the

          6  companies that were not exempt from the requirement,

          7  39 percent of the jobs paid less than $25,000.00,

          8  which, by any New York City standards, is a poverty

          9  wage.

         10                 British Airways, for example, got

         11  $5.7 million in assistance from the IDA for a

         12  project at JFK Airport and almost a third of the

         13  jobs at that project pay less than $25,000.00.

         14                 Secondly, IDA should have a

         15  requirement that if businesses do live up to their

         16  end of the bargain, in other words if they do not

         17  create or retain the jobs they have promised, then

         18  we should get our money back.  It seems like common

         19  sense, but while some IDAs have these clawback

         20  provisions, many do not.  A rough analysis of the

         21  data that IDAs give to the state Comptroller, in a

         22  yearly report, shows that at least 29 IDAs, state-

         23  wide, had negative job creation in either 2003 or

         24  2004 or both or had reports that were so incomplete

         25  that it was impossible to analyze them.
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          2                 Thirdly, the third principal is that

          3  there should be more opportunities for public input,

          4  agency transparency and accountability in the IDA

          5  process.  A number of reforms in our legislative

          6  proposal address these issues, including

          7  diversifying the IDA boards with a blend of

          8  business, labor, school board, environmental and

          9  community representatives; strengthened and enhanced

         10  reporting requirements during the application

         11  process and each year throughout the subsidy period;

         12  strengthened conflict of interest provisions; and

         13  anti- pirating provisions to avoid companies moving

         14  from one part of the state to another and exploiting

         15  the IDAs as they do it.

         16                 All of these reforms were introduced

         17  by State Senator Maziarz, Chair of the Labor

         18  Committee and Assembly Member Sweeney, Chair of the

         19  Local Governments Committee, as S.7391 and A.10787

         20  in the last session and will be introduced again in

         21  2007. Portions of the IDA, enabling legislation will

         22  expire this June and there is, thus, a strategic

         23  window in which New York Jobs with Justice and our

         24  allies in the New York Initiative for Development

         25  Accountability will advocate for this reform.
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          2                 We ask for and would appreciate the

          3  Council's support of the New York Initiative for

          4  Development Accountability reforms, again, basic

          5  standards on job quality, meaningful penalties to

          6  ensure that subsidy recipients live up to their end

          7  of the bargain and increase transparency and public

          8  process measures.

          9                 These reforms will not only increase

         10  the effectiveness of the IDAs in meeting their

         11  mission to create and preserve quality jobs in New

         12  York, but will also set an example state- wide for

         13  how New York should do its business whether or not

         14  the jobs are subsidized, by attracting and retaining

         15  employers that provide family- sustaining jobs to

         16  our communities, jobs with good wages, good benefits

         17  and opportunities for advancement.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  testify and to answer any questions you may have.  I

         20  should also just add that the project that you were

         21  mentioning, Redefining Economic Development in New

         22  York City, New York Jobs with Justice and the Pratt

         23  Center, Marnie and I, coordinated that project and

         24  so we're happy to answer any questions on that as

         25  well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. BRUNK:  Yup.

          4                 MS. SEIFRIED:  Good afternoon.  My

          5  name is Ann Seifried.  I'm with the New York

          6  Industrial Retention Network. As you know, NYIRN

          7  works with about 400 to 500 manufacturing businesses

          8  each year, most of which employ fewer than 100

          9  people and mostly for assistance with relocation.

         10                 About ten years ago, when NYIRN

         11  started, we found that most businesses were unaware

         12  of these programs or thought that tax breaks only

         13  went to large corporations based in Manhattan.  So,

         14  while program awareness has increased in the hustle

         15  and bustle of running a company, few are still, few

         16  continue to be knowledgeable about the details or

         17  how to access them.

         18                 That's why NYIRN and the other

         19  economic development organizations come in.  We

         20  develop relationships with the agency staff and

         21  learn the programs, so we can best advise businesses

         22  on where to go for assistance.  Our client managers

         23  typically do site visits with the companies and

         24  learn about them and their history and their

         25  challenges.  We provide the businesses with program
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          2  descriptions, under what circumstances they're

          3  likely to qualify, program applications, and we do

          4  follow- up to make sure nobody kind of gets lost in

          5  the process.

          6                 For more complicated programs,

          7  businesses owners often hire a consultant with legal

          8  or accounting experience to help them with the

          9  application process.  This can become a hidden cost

         10  for accessing the programs with the deepest

         11  incentives.

         12                 In general, we find SBS and EDC to be

         13  responsive to the needs of small businesses.  The

         14  agency staff frequently collaborate and typically

         15  welcome our assistance in case management.  For

         16  example, we'll nudge a company that needs to provide

         17  more documentation for a project or a program.  IMB

         18  is also playing an important role in coordinating

         19  the more complicated projects that happen in the

         20  industrial and manufacturing sector.

         21                 Easier programs for companies of all

         22  sizes and types to understand access are the ones

         23  based on head count and square footage formulas.

         24  For example, the IBZ Relocation Grant is targeted

         25  and simple.  Unfortunately, it only applies to
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          2  spaces within the IBZ, which is only 36 percent of

          3  the M- zoned land in the whole City.  The second is

          4  the Enhanced Relocation Grant for Greenpoint and

          5  Williamsburg, which is limited to industrial

          6  businesses within those rezoned neighborhoods.

          7                 For, the lower price of land in New

          8  Jersey continues to be a major challenge to keeping

          9  jobs in New York. But, many factors, including

         10  proximity to the market and New York City's

         11  workforce continue to be important.  So, incentives

         12  do matter.  However, a number of companies have

         13  expressed frustration with the City and state

         14  incentive programs and compare it with the relative

         15  ease with which they can access city and state

         16  benefits in New Jersey.

         17                 The myriad of programs offered by the

         18  two states and multiple municipalities are difficult

         19  to compare directly. However, our anecdotal

         20  information suggests that companies find New

         21  Jersey's business attraction programs easier to

         22  access, more predictable, with faster turn- around

         23  times and seemingly more generous benefits than the

         24  combination of business retention programs offered

         25  on this side of the river.  Moreover, a 100 employee
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          2  business looking to access incentives for creating

          3  20 new jobs would more frequently opt for the

          4  incentives provided by moving all 120 jobs over to

          5  New Jersey.

          6                 One of the biggest complaints we see

          7  is the iffiness our larger manufacturers sense from

          8  New York City and state officials when trying to

          9  pull together an incentive package.  The

         10  discretionary nature of the IDA program is the most

         11  obvious example.  It has high up- front costs, which

         12  makes it accessible only to the City's largest

         13  businesses.  And, while it can be useful for those

         14  businesses, the small, smallest businesses often

         15  don't meet the investment thresholds to access these

         16  programs.

         17                 The result is a skewed set of

         18  benefits, providing the deepest incentives to the

         19  businesses with the deepest pockets.  Smaller

         20  businesses, while healthy, can get lost in the

         21  shuffle of shifting land use and economic policy

         22  priorities. This is unfortunate, since small

         23  businesses are truly the heart of our local economy,

         24  over 84 percent of our manufacturing companies have

         25  less than 25 employees.
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          2                 Opportunities for improvement.  So,

          3  Local Law 86 was passed, requiring buildings with

          4  significant City investment to meet energy

          5  efficiency and other environmental standards.  It

          6  will create new markets for green building products.

          7    What's not clear, however, is whether or not the

          8  provisions that would have helped New York companies

          9  to compete with, in these emerging markets will

         10  apply to the implementation of this law.  This is a

         11  great opportunity for the Council and the Mayor to

         12  consider how to best capture some of that economic

         13  activity in our local economy.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  testify.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you.

         17                 MS. DAMIANI:  Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Bettina Damiani.  I'm Director of Good Jobs

         19  New York.  We're a project of the Fiscal Policy

         20  Institute and Good Jobs First.  Since 1999, Good

         21  Jobs has been keeping track of how this City

         22  allocates discretionary subsidy deals here in New

         23  York City and worked very hard to try and promote

         24  more public input in how this process is done.

         25                 We do this in a variety of ways,
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          2  including sending out subsidy alerts every months,

          3  informing elected officials, Committee Members and

          4  the media of public hearings.  We'd like to say that

          5  since we've been doing that, there have been some

          6  heated debates at the IDA public hearings, which

          7  were certainly not the case in the previous

          8  Administration.  There's been some packed rooms and

          9  some lively discussions.  So, we're anxious and

         10  excited to keep that going.

         11                 Just yesterday, the Mayor come out

         12  with a commitment to $150 million to fulfill his

         13  Poverty Commission to help get people back to work.

         14  While that is certainly nothing to shake a stick at,

         15  $150 million is pretty much the tax break that was

         16  given to Goldman Sachs.  It's a little disingenuous

         17  to say the City had nothing to do with that.  That

         18  was clearly a City and state joint effort.  The

         19  commitment that Goldman Sachs made was to move from

         20  one side of Lower Manhattan to the other  So, the

         21  larger debate here is, are we pitting communities

         22  within New York City against each other for

         23  subsidies, but that's for another Hearing.

         24                 The Administration's given out about

         25  $900 million in incentives and while that might not
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          2  be a central theme to this Administration, I think

          3  it would be very unfair not to say that that is a

          4  large investment.  It would, I'd be lacking on my

          5  watchdog status, if I didn't point out the City

          6  Council approved nearly all those projects and were

          7  very much supportive of some of these large economic

          8  development programs.

          9                 Despite the myth that taxes are where

         10  these companies decide where to locate are based on

         11  taxes, we've heard today that for large

         12  corporations, that's really not necessarily the

         13  case.  For smaller businesses and manufacturers,

         14  that's certainly worth a debate.  Large corporations

         15  care about getting their employees to work.  They

         16  care about making sure they have smart employees and

         17  where the competitors are.  New York City delivers

         18  on a lot of that.

         19                 Yet, the IDA, while they give out, do

         20  incentivize smaller businesses, it's only about 15

         21  percent of their overall resources  --  I'm just

         22  going to back this up.  So, by project, it's 15

         23  percent go to commercial business.  So, it makes it

         24  look like they're really only focusing a little bit

         25  on the commercial projects.  The reality is, is that
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          2  80 percent of the funds are going to large

          3  corporations.  So, I think there needs to be a

          4  little clarity about where the actual cash is going

          5  versus where the actual programs are and how that's

          6  fulfilling.

          7                 The Poverty Commission talked about

          8  the increase of poor heads of households, which has

          9  increased dramatically since 1990.  Since 1990, the

         10  City and state have given out untold amounts of

         11  subsidies to corporations in the name of tax, in the

         12  name of job creations, but yet we see more poor

         13  heads of households in our City.  It's a little

         14  confusing.  So, I think we need to clarify who's

         15  really benefitting from these resources in the name

         16  of job creation if low- income people aren't getting

         17  access to jobs.

         18                 There needs to be job standards

         19  connected to these subsidy deals.  We talked a

         20  little bit about that earlier.  Some of them are

         21  just very basic, make sure that, you know, that

         22  they're good paying jobs, that people have access to

         23  health benefits and if there's more emphasis on

         24  requiring that New York City residents have access

         25  to these jobs.  The Time Warner project was one that

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  was heralded by Council Member Gale Brewer. So, if

          3  there's more information about that, I don't think I

          4  can be the steward for that, but I think you should

          5  talk with her. She did an excellent job on working

          6  with the community and Time Warner and the Mandarin

          7  Hotel for that project.

          8                 There are examples all over this

          9  country about job standards connected to subsidy

         10  deals and guess, we're surrounded by them, Suffolk

         11  County, Westchester County and New Jersey all have

         12  standards connected to their subsidy deals.  I'm

         13  just going to, I won't go through them all, because

         14  they're highlighted in our testimony.  But, just for

         15  example, in New Jersey, only jobs with health

         16  insurance are counted towards a company's

         17  eligibility.  In Suffolk County, they have, there's

         18  wage minimums and you get 12 vacation days per year,

         19  imagine that.  In Westchester, you have to have ten

         20  paid vacation days and there's a wage requirement of

         21  $11.50 an hour.

         22                 Then, New York State Empire Zone

         23  Program was also discussed before.  Companies don't

         24  run because they are expected to pay their workers a

         25  living wage.  It's not just evident around New York
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          2  City, but it's around the country.  Good Jobs First

          3  did a report in 2003 and it showed that companies

          4  didn't flee.  The issue here is, why are we racing

          5  to the bottom, when all the jurisdictions around us

          6  have some reasonable expectation on how our tax

          7  dollars are invested?  So, I think this a very

          8  important debate and it's a very important time.

          9                 You have to acknowledge that the sky

         10  is not falling because we expect people to be paid a

         11  living wage.  It's a wise investment.  If we use tax

         12  dollars to subsidize low- income jobs, we're paying

         13  twice because many people then have to rely on other

         14  types of subsidized services, whether it's for

         15  health care, for housing or for child care.  It's

         16  just not, what it comes down to is, is it a wise

         17  investment?  And, many of these incentives are not

         18  necessarily corrected, connected to jobs  It's about

         19  tax revenue.  I think we need to refocus and this is

         20  about getting jobs for New York City residents.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         23  much.  It appears as though some of the information

         24  that we had asked the EDC and SBS, in terms of the

         25  fines and the revenue side, in terms of the majority
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          2  of the revenue, where does it go, to SBS or to EDC?

          3  They did not have that information available, but,

          4  evidently, you do.  So, maybe we should create a

          5  whole new off Council agency to deal with those

          6  kinds of statistics.

          7                 It's been very informative and this

          8  is just the first in a series, not just to me, but

          9  we want to do things meaningful for businesses and

         10  for the people of the City of New York.  I think a

         11  partnership is what we're really after, not an

         12  unequal partnership, but a true partnership.

         13                 Standards, job standards, I think, is

         14  something that we deserve, not that we should have

         15  to, you know, ask for, employment opportunities,

         16  health care, not moving out the middle class, not

         17  forgetting about people who need a good job and wage

         18  benefits and all the things that anybody else would

         19  need.

         20                 I think that we're really off to a

         21  good start. This is the first time I'm really

         22  meeting you in terms of you representing your

         23  agencies, but it won't be the last time.  It's been

         24  very informative and I'd like to turn it over to my

         25  colleague for any comment he may have.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, thank you

          3  Mr. Chair.  I don't really have a comment and

          4  question.  I, too, found it very enlightening and in

          5  direct contradiction to the previous testimony.  I

          6  am interested in the fact that so many surrounding

          7  us have these wage standards in New York City.  It

          8  hasn't even broached that subject, but I think

          9  that's, it's instructive in terms of the work that

         10  we must do, because giving away  --  that $900

         11  million in incentives that we give away is what

         12  period of time?

         13                 MS. DAMIANI:  That has been under

         14  just the Bloomberg Administration.  It includes very

         15  large projects, including the Yankee Stadium deal

         16  and, for example, Bank of America.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right, it's

         18  been since the first, what four, five years?  $900

         19  million, that's a lot of money.  That's a lot of

         20  money.  Now, you mentioned an announcement, the

         21  Governor made about $150 million to do what now?

         22                 MS. DAMIANI:  From my reading of the

         23  press release, I wish I had, you know, more detailed

         24  information. Through the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, I believe, this is where these programs are
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          2  going to come out of in response to the Poverty

          3  Commission that was put together early in the year,

          4  that some of this money is to help implement some of

          5  those recommendations, including addressing issues

          6  around the working poor.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, thank you

          8  Mr. Chairman. I don't really have any further

          9  inquiry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  It's been very

         11  informative and we're going to contact those

         12  surrounding areas with those benefit plans and we're

         13  going to take a look at them.  We're going to look

         14  into possibly having a Hearing in terms of why

         15  there's such disparity between New York City and the

         16  surrounding areas and how we're doing business and

         17  giving benefits to companies who might, in fact, be

         18  in Nassau or Suffolk County, doing business.  Yet,

         19  they are giving those benefits of standards in jobs

         20  and wages to their employees where they feel they

         21  may not have to do that in New York City.

         22                 So, we'll be taking a look at that

         23  and I hope that we can look forward to your

         24  participation in future Hearings surrounding this.

         25  I want to thank you very much.  Do you have a
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          2  statement?

          3                 MS. BRUNK:  Just one thing, thank

          4  you, thank you for that.  I would just say, you

          5  know, a number of local governments around the state

          6  in the first State Legislative Session passed

          7  resolutions in support of this state IDA legislation

          8  that would regulate wages and set wage standards for

          9  the IDAs all across the state.  I think that's

         10  something we would definitely welcome in New York

         11  City and particularly if you're looking to do

         12  another Hearing on, you know, on this issue, it's

         13  something that we would welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, it will be

         15  forthcoming. I want to thank you for coming.

         16                 MS. BRUNK:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  The meeting is

         18  adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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